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Statement of Prior and Related Appeals

There are no prior or related appeals.

*1  Statement of the Issues

I. Whether the evidence regarding the use of the mails was sufficient to convict Zander of mail fraud.

II. Whether the evidence regarding the use of the wires was sufficient to convict Zander of wire fraud.

III. Whether the evidence was sufficient to convict Zander of money laundering.

IV. Whether the district court properly included the Tribe's attorneys' fees, unemployment benefits paid to the Utah Department
of Workforce Services, and lost wages and employees' time and travel in the loss amount under USSG § 2B1.1.
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*2  V. Whether Zander waived his arguments that the Tribe's attorneys' fees, unemployment benefits paid to the Utah
Department of Workforce Services, and lost wages and employees' time and travel should not have been included in the amount
of restitution awarded pursuant to the Mandatory Victim Restitution Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3663A.

Statement of The Case and the Facts

1. Introduction

On February 29, 2012, a federal grand jury returned an eight-count Superseding Indictment charging Zander with two counts of
mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Counts 1 and 2); two counts of wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Counts
3 and 4); one count of money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957 (Count 5); and three counts of failure to file federal
tax returns in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7203 (Counts 6-8). (Supp. Vol. I, Superseding Indictment, Doc. 52.)

Counts 1-5 of the Superseding Indictment relate to Zander's scheme to defraud the Paiute Indian Tribe of Utah (the Tribe) and
the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) by securing BIA federal grant money on behalf of the Tribe and then diverting the money
to his personal use. (Id. at 1-11.) Counts 6-8 of the Superseding Indictment charged Zander with willfully failing to file tax
returns for the taxable *3  years 2005-2007. (Id. at 12-14.) Following a seven-day jury trial, Zander was found guilty on all

counts. 1  (Supp. Vol. I, Docket Entry No. 141.)

2. The Trial

The Paiute Indian Tribe of Utah is a federally-recognized Indian tribe. (Tr. at 117.) 2  The Tribe consists of five constituent
bands in Southern Utah: Cedar, Indian Peaks, Kanosh, Koosharem, and Shivwits. (Id. at 117-18.) The Tribe is headquartered
in Cedar City, Utah. (Id. at 119-20.)

The Tribe's main assets are its land and subsurface mineral rights. (Id. at 118, 183.) In 1998, the Tribe decided to hire a Tribal
Planner to create a plan to generate income from the Tribe's resources. (Id. at 120, 178.) The Tribe selected Zander for the
position. (Id. at 122.) A few years later, when the Tribe's Economic Development Director left, the Tribe assigned Zander to
that position. (Id. at 184-85.) As a director, Zander worked independently with minimal supervision. (Id. at 185.)

Between 2004 and 2005, Zander introduced the idea of seeking grants from the BIA to develop an Integrated Resource
Management Plan (IRMP) for each of the Tribe's five bands. (Id. at 202, 456-57.) An IRMP is a comprehensive plan *4
regarding the most effective use of the Tribe's natural resources and assets. (Id. at 203.)

Between 2005 and 2007, Zander applied for and obtained grant money for the Tribe to create IRMPs for each of the Tribe's
five bands. (Exs. 1-1, 1-2, 1-2A, 1-3, 1-4, 1-6; Tr. at 203-04, 231.) As a director, Zander's work on the grant proposals was
not supervised and Zander communicated with the BIA on behalf of the Tribe. (Tr. at 204, 337-38, 831-32.) In the proposals,
Zander represented that most of the grant proceeds would be used to hire and pay an outside consultant and/or a facilitator to
assist the Tribe in creating the IRMPs. (Exs. 1-1 at BIA-03-00020-00021, 00024; 1-2A at BIA-03-00110-00111, 00114; 1-3 at
BIA-03-00273-00274, 00277; 1-4 at BIA-03-00418-00419, 00422; 1-6 at BIA-03-00504-00505, 00508.) Zander included the
Tribe's resolutions to pursue the IRMP grants, as required. (Exs. 1-1 at BIA-03-00015-00016; 1-2A at BIA-03-00117-00120;
1-3 at BIA-03-00278-00281; 1-4 at BIA-03-00410-00413; 1-6 at BIA-03-00496-00499.) Zander was listed, along with his
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mailing address, fax and phone numbers, and email address, as the IRMP point of contact. (Ex. 1-2A at BIA-03-00106; 1-3
at BIA-03-00269.)

After receiving the proposals, a committee at the BIA decided to award each of the grants. (Tr. at 621.) For each of the grants,
a BIA awarding official in Phoenix, Arizona, then prepared and sent a grant award package to the Tribe by *5  certified mail.
(Id. at 622, 832; Exs. 1-4, 1-6, 24-7 at 1.) The August 9, 2007, certified mailings from Arizona to Utah of the grant award
packages for IRMPs for the Shivwits and Cedar bands, the final two of the five grants, are the basis for the mail fraud charges
in Counts 1 and 2 of the Superseding Indictment. (Supp. Vol. I, Superseding Indictment, Doc. 52 at 9; Exs. 1-1 through 1-4,
1-6; Tr. at 207-231.) Zander was listed on each letter as receiving a corresponding copy of the letter and the agreement. (Ex.
1-4 at BIA-03-00403 (cc: “Jeff Zander, Paiute Indian Tribe of Utah, Cedar City, UT 84720 w/cy Agreement”) and 1-6 at
BIA-03-00489 (same).)

Specifically, the BIA awarded the Tribe the following grants:

• $25,000 in July 2005 for the preparation of an IRMP for the Koosharem Band (Ex. 1-1 at BIA-03-00005);

• $28,000 in August 2006 for the preparation of an IRMP for the Indian Peaks Band (Exs. 1-2 at BIA-03-00121; 1-2A);

• $28,000 in August 2006 for the preparation of an IRMP for the Kanosh Band (Ex. 1-3 at BIA-03-00264);

• $34,500 in August 2007 for the preparation of an IRMP for the Cedar Band (Ex. 1-4 at BIA-03-00405); and

• $49,500 in August 2007 for the preparation of an IRMP for the Shivwits Band (Ex. 1-6 at BIA-03-00491).

Zander represented that four separate companies were working on the IRMPs by submitting purchase orders to the Tribe for
payments to those companies. (Tr. at 231-32; Exs. 1-15 through 1-45.) The purchase orders listed the companies as:

*6  • Econometrics, Suite 116, 530 Las Vegas Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada, 89101;

• Kruger & Company, P.O. Box 2134, Suite 506, 86 North University Avenue, Provo, Utah, 84603;

• Plan Tech, Suite 302, 1610 South Main Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, 84115; and

• ZMGT, Suite 303, 4747 West Charleston, Las Vegas, Nevada, 89307.

(Exs. 1-15 through 1-45.)

These companies, however, did not exist. (Tr. at 318-21, 459-62, 466, 469, 471-81, 607-615, 781-86, 867-87.) Zander made
up the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of the companies to facilitate his fraudulent scheme to divert the grant funds
to his personal use and benefit. (Id.)

As part of the IRMP grant process required by the BIA, Zander submitted quarterly reports directly to the BIA. (Exs. 2-3
through 2-8; Tr. at 245.) As a director, Zander's quarterly reports were not reviewed. (Tr. at 245.) The reports Zander submitted
were false and misleading. (Exs. 2-3 through 2-8; see Tr. at 245-258.) For instance, he represented that a consultant and a
facilitator were actively involved in the projects. (Ex. 2-3 at BIA-01-00031; 2-4 at BIA-01-00036-00037; 2-5 at BIA-01-00040;
2-6 at BIA-01-00044; 2-7 at BIA-01-00005; 2-8 at BIA-01-00047.) He also represented that he traveled out of town, including
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to Las Vegas, Nevada, to meet with consultants or facilitators. (Ex. *7  2-3 at BIA-01-00032; 2-4 at BIA-01-00037; 2-5 at
BIA-01-00041; 2-7 at BIA-01-00006; 2-8 at BIA-01-00048.)

Although the companies did not exist, Zander submitted invoices to himself representing that these companies had performed
work on the IRMPs and were owed money. (Exs. 1-15 through 1-45, 24-7 at 2; Tr. at 231, 233, 832-33.) Based on the fraudulent
invoices, Zander prepared and submitted purchase orders to the Tribe. (Exs. 1-15 through 1-4, 24-7 at 2; Tr. at 233-35, 832-33.)
The Tribe processed the false purchase orders and issued checks to the fictitious companies. (Id.) Then, following Zander's
directions, the Tribe either mailed the checks to P.O. boxes owned or controlled by Zander (Tr. at 463-69), or gave Zander the
checks directly to hand-deliver to the fictitious companies (id. at 235, 416).

After receiving the checks from the Tribe, Zander deposited the checks into his personal checking accounts. (Exs. 22-3 through
22-31, 24-2, 24-5; Tr. at 127-31, 484-545, 654-74, 777-81, 818-30.) Zander withdrew the funds or used them for his personal
benefit (id.), including for a down payment on a home purchase on November 20, 2007 (Exs. 24-5, 24-6; Tr. at 710-23, 818-30).
The down payment money was derived from Zander's mail and wire fraud scheme and the down payment is the basis for the
money laundering charge in Count 5 of the Superseding Indictment. (Supp. Vol. I, Superseding Indictment, Doc. 52 at 11.)

*8  The IRMP grants were reimbursement grants, meaning that the Tribe had to expend the grant moneys first and then request
reimbursement. (Tr. at 213.) After spending all of the grant moneys, the Tribe submitted a “draw down” request to the BIA
in St. George, Utah, which approved the request and faxed it to the BIA processing center in Reston, Virginia, on February 1,
2008. (Id. at 729-31, 833; Exs. 26-1; 26-2; 24-7 at 3.) This fax from Utah to Virginia is the basis for the wire fraud charge in
Count 3 of the Superseding Indictment. (Supp. Vol. I, Superseding Indictment, Doc. 52 at 10.)

The BIA in Reston, Virginia, processed the request and entered it into the federal financial system. (Tr. at 751-61.) As a result,
the United States Treasury in Kansas City, Missouri, wired reimbursement for the grant expenditures to the Tribe's bank account

on February 6, 2008. 3  (Id. at 754-55, 762; Exs. 26-3; 24-7 at 3.) This wire from Missouri to Utah is the basis for the wire fraud
charge in Count 4 of the Superseding Indictment. (Supp. Vol. I, Superseding Indictment, Doc. 52 at 10.)

After expending all $165,000 of the IRMP grant moneys, Zander completed only one, four-page IRMP for the Koosharem
band. (Ex. 1-8; Tr. at 310-11.) That *9  IRMP was approximately a fifth the size of the grant proposal and much smaller than
other IRMPs, which are usually at least fifty to over a hundred pages. (Tr. at 311.)

At trial, Zander called Randall Hoyt, a former colleague at the Tribe who had also secured grants from the BIA. (Id. at 899.)
On cross examination, Hoyt agreed that when he pursued a grant, he “knew that, if it was accepted and awarded, money would
be sent from the BIA to the Paiute Indian Tribe” and that the BIA “would be outside the State of Utah.” (Id. at 913.) He also
agreed that when he was “able to attain the tribal approval to send that proposal to the BIA for consideration, [he] knew that
that proposal would be mailed or sent to somebody in the BIA who would consider all of the proposals and decide which ones
to fund[.]” (Id. at 914.) Like Zander, Hoyt was also a director at the Tribe. (Id. at 898-99.)

Based on the Tribe's failure to prepare the five IRMPs, the BIA issued the Tribe a notice of collection to repay the funds or
produce the work. (Id. at 312.)

3. Motion for Judgment of Acquittal
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At the close of the government's case-in chief, Zander moved for a judgment of acquittal under Rule 29 on Counts 1 through 5.
(Tr. at 888-90.) The court reserved its ruling until after the jury's verdict (id. at 893), but later denied the motion, finding that
the evidence was sufficient to support the convictions on each count. (Id. at 1054.)

*10  After trial, Zander renewed the Rule 29 motion and filed a supporting memorandum. (Supp. Vol. I, Docket Entry No. 145
& 146.) Consistent with his earlier motion for acquittal, Zander argued that there was insufficient evidence at trial to support
his convictions on Counts 1 through 5. (Supp. Vol. I, Memo. in Support of Rule 29 Motion, Doc. 146 at 1.) With respect to
the mail fraud convictions (Counts 1 and 2), Zander argued that he did not cause the letters regarding the grants to be mailed
from the BIA to the Tribe. (Id. at 2.) Because the grant application process would not have occurred absent the approval of the
Paiute Tribal Council, Zander argued that it was legally impossible for him to have caused the mailings. (Id.) In supplemental
briefing, Zander further argued that he could not be convicted of mail fraud because the mailings themselves were required by
law and did not contain any false or fraudulent statements. (Supp. Vol. I, Def. Reply to Gov't Response to Rule 29 Motion,
Doc. 180 at 4.) With respect to the wire fraud counts (Counts 3 and 4), Zander argued that there was insufficient evidence that
he knowingly caused the charged wire transmissions because he could not have reasonably foreseen the BIA's use of the wires.
(Id. at 3-4.) Finally, Zander argued that, if the evidence was insufficient on mail and wire fraud, he could not be convicted of
laundering money derived from those activities (Count 5). (Id. at 6.)

After full briefing, the district court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal. (Vol. I, Memorandum Decision and Order,
Doc. 183.) The court ruled *11  that the “evidence presented at trial supports the jury's convictions, and shows that Zander
knew or should have known that the mails and wires would be used to or be incident to the perpetration of his fraudulent
scheme.” (Id. at 9.)

First, the court held that the evidence at trial supported the mail fraud convictions because Zander set the scheme in motion with
knowledge that the use of the mails would follow in the ordinary course of business. (Id. at 3-4.) Specifically, the court cited
evidence that “Zander was familiar with the process and could reasonably foresee that the mail would be used to perpetrate his
fraudulent scheme as that same method of communication was used by the tribe and the BIA to process prior grant proposals
prepared by Zander on behalf of the tribe.” (Id. at 3.) Additionally, the court found that, although the actual mailings were
required by law and did not themselves contain any false or fraudulent statements, the mailings would not have occurred but for
Zander's fraudulent scheme. The mailings were sent “only because the BIA received the grant applications -- grant applications
that were prepared and set in motion as an instrumental and critical part of Zander's fraudulent scheme.” (Id. at 7 (emphasis
in original).)

Second, the court ruled that the government proved “that Zander ‘had actual knowledge that the wires would be used in the
ordinary course of business or that he reasonably should have foreseen this use.’ ” (Id. at 5 (quoting United States v. Weiss,
630 F.3d 1263, 1271 (10th Cir. 2007)). “The evidence supported the jury's finding *12  that given Zander's understanding of
how the grant application and approval process works, he knew or should have known that wire transmissions would be used
to perpetrate his fraudulent scheme.” (Id.)

Lastly, the court rejected Zander's arguments for reversing the money laundering conviction. The court held that, “[b]ecause
the evidence was sufficient to sustain the mail and wire fraud convictions, the jury's conviction on the money laundering count
is likewise sustained.” (Id. at 9.)

4. Sentencing

A Presentence Report was prepared using the 2012 edition of the Sentencing Guidelines manual. (Sealed Vol. III, PSR at 5, ¶
16.) The PSR set forth the offense conduct as proven at trial and explained that Zander informed the BIA and the Tribe that he
hired four companies to aid in the development of the Tribe's IRMPs. (Id. at 4, ¶ 10.) However, those businesses did not exist and
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Zander created the business names to facilitate his fraudulent scheme. (Id.) According to the PSR, Zander submitted to the Tribe
forged and fraudulent invoices, receipts, and purchase orders. (Id. at 4, ¶ 11.) As a result, the Tribe paid the fictitious companies
and Zander deposited the checks into his account. (Id. at 4-5, ¶ 11.) According to the PSR, Zander received $176,698.00 as
a result of his fraud, and restitution in that amount was due to the Paiute Indian Tribe. (Id. at 5, ¶ 11 & 23, ¶ 84.) Using a
loss figure of more than $120,000 and less than $200,000, and following application of the *13  grouping rules, Zander's total
offense level was 24. (Id. at 6-9, ¶¶ 18-42.) His guideline range was 51 to 63 months. (Id. at 21, ¶ 71.)

Prior to sentencing, Zander objected to the PSR and asserted that he received $84,000 “in the offenses for which he was
convicted” and that the $176,698 figure “apparently comes from the victim impact statement filed by the Paiute tribe.” (Supp.
Vol. I, Position of Party With Respect to Sentencing Factors, Doc. 191 at 1.) The Probation Officer declined to change the
amount and stated that paragraph 11 of the PSR set forth how the loss amount was determined. (PSR Addendum at 3.)

At the sentencing hearing, the United States submitted Government Trial Exhibit 24-2, which detailed every check Zander
received as a result of his fraud. (Ex. 24-2; 11/20/13 Tr. at 6.) The total amount was $176,698.00. (Ex. 24-2.) An attorney for
the Paiute Tribe prepared and submitted a victim and financial impact statement, which was attached to the PSR. (PSR, 3/22/13
letter and attachments; 11/20/13 Tr. at 7, 9, 32-33.) According to the statement, in addition to the $176,698 paid to Zander,
the Tribe sought reimbursement for $35,845.92 in attorneys' fees, Zander's salary increase as general counsel, unemployment
benefits paid to the Utah Department of Workforce Services, and lost wages and employees' time and travel. (Victim Impact
Statement, Financial Impact Statement Worksheet at 1) (capitalization altered from original).)

*14  The government argued for a loss amount of $176,698.00, and the court asked why the additional amounts requested by the
Tribe were not included in the government's loss calculation. (11/20/13 Tr. at 7.) The prosecutor explained that the government
was “operating under the agreed upon amount of $176,698,” it was unaware of the additional “costs” until it received the
Tribe's exhibit, and there was “some question as to how these losses come into play at this sentencing.” (11/20/13 Tr. at 7.)
The prosecutor explained:

For example, the unemployment benefits paid would certainly be a result of the defendant's fraud, both in obtaining the
employment and the continued employment and the termination for cause. Those would certainly be related and as well as the

attorney's fees into the investigation and the assistance that she provided from Grand Junction, Colorado in this matter. 4

(Id. at 8.)

The prosecutor stated there was no question about the $176,698.00 loss, but he did not know if the government could show
the other amounts “to a level of certainty that would be required to include that in the loss amount.” (Id.) The court concluded,
at that point in the hearing, that the loss amount was $176,698. (Id. at 9.) However, the court later increased the loss amount
to $202,543.92, after obtaining additional information from the Tribe's representatives, who were present at the hearing. (Id.
at 32-37, 58.)

*15  The specific items for which the Tribe requested additional reimbursement were $13,910.00 in attorneys' fees:

associated with the FBI and Department of Justice investigation and prosecution, responses to Zander's subpoena requests,
Department of the Interior attempts to recoup the embezzled funds, state charges against Zander for the trespass into the tribal

building, unemployment benefits improperly paid to Zander, termination, and related Zander requirements. 5
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(Victim Impact Statement, Financial Impact Statement Worksheet at 1 (capitalization altered from original).) Gayle Rollo, the
Tribe Administrator, explained that the $13,910 in attorneys' fees was “the amount of money we paid our attorney to assist us
in working with the FBI, collecting the documentation, providing documentation to Mr. Zander's attorneys, helping us fight the
State of California and the State of Utah over the unemployment we were forced to pay for him.” (11/20/13 Tr. at 33; 2/26/13
Tr. at 116.) The law firm provided its services at a significantly reduced rate, or pro bono, because of the Tribe's financial
situation. (Victim Impact Statement, Financial Impact Statement Worksheet at 1.) The Tribe offered to provide copies of the
redacted bills upon the court's request. (Id.)

The Tribe also requested $8,339.98 for unemployment benefits paid to the Utah Department of Workforce Services. (Id.)
According to the impact statement:

*16  Although the Tribe objected, Zander was deemed eligible because he had not yet been convicted of a crime[.] [I]t was
an interstate wage claim paid by California for California employment, then billed to Utah Department of Workforce Services,
then billed to the Tribe because he worked there for an extended period, which the Tribe paid in full to avoid legal penalties.

(Id.) According to Rollo, the Tribe had to reimburse the State of Utah, Department of Workforce Services, for Zander's
unemployment benefits that Utah had paid to the State of California. (11/20/13 Tr. at 35.) The Tribe provided supporting
documentation. (Victim Impact Statement, Financial Impact Statement Worksheet, Exhibit 3.)

The Tribe also requested $3,595.94 for “lost wages and employees' time and travel related to [the] Zander case.” (Victim Impact

Statement, Financial Impact Statement Worksheet at 1 (capitalization altered from original).) 6  Rollo explained that the figure
was based on Rollo's “time and travel for two trips to Salt Lake for deposition [sic], Lora's. We had another staff member
that came up, so that was our time.” (11/20/13 Tr. at 35-36.) The figure was derived by taking monthly wages and dividing
them by the hours that were actually spent. (Id. at 36.) At trial, Rollo explained that when she was first alerted by the bank
that Zander was attempting to deposit into his own account one of the Tribe's checks to what was later revealed to *17  be a
fictitious company, she began investigating the matter and obtained a number of checks from the State Bank of Southern Utah.
(2/26/13 Tr. at 123-30.) Suspecting wrongdoing, she contacted the Tribe's attorney and showed her the copies of the checks
and the endorsements. (Id. at 132.) Rollo also contacted members of the Tribal Council and, following a recommendation from
its attorney, the Tribe contacted the FBI and the BIA and terminated Zander's employment. (Id. at 132, 134.)

Lora Tom, the chairperson of the Cedar Band of the Paiutes, addressed the court and requested that the court take into account
the Tribe's victim impact statement. (11/20/13 Tr. at 28.) Tom explained the damage the small, rural Tribe suffered as a result
of Zander's actions, including putting the Tribe's status as a grant recipient at a risk, placing multiple programs and projects in
jeopardy, having to hire legal counsel, and suffering hundreds of thousands of dollars in damage and loss. (Id. at 29-31.)

The court noted that there was some substantiation of the amounts requested by the Tribe and, if the court included the additional
$25,844.94 as loss, it would change the guideline calculation. (Id. at 36-37.) The court requested that Zander's attorney address
the restitution issue and she made the following statements in connection with the restitution matters pertinent to this appeal:

To start with, with the calculations for the restitution, you know, and I understand that with this document that there are monies
added that the *18  Piute [sic] Indian Tribe is asking for, and I guess, you know, when we were looking at it, the government
is asking for the $176,698 amount. . . .

. . .
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Okay. And so with these other fees that they are asking for, you know, I don't -- you know, I guess it's hard to address them
because they were just addressed at the podium . . . .

. . .

Okay. And then with the lost wages and employees' time and travel related to Mr. Zander's case, and, you know -- and I guess
the basis for that is they wouldn't have to do it but for this case, but it's something that I think, as employees, that they would
have to do as part of their job description anyway. And so, to ask Mr. Zander to pay for part of their salary that is part of their
job description for them to cooperate in this case, they would have been paid that money regardless, depending on what they
were doing, and so -- so that's why I don't think that that would -- that should be included.

And the money for the unemployment that Mr. Zander drew for the $8,339, I guess I don't understand. You know, and I guess
-- you know, just off of the cuff, I don't have a lot of experience in addressing this right now, so I would need more time to
respond for that and for the attorney's fees.

And I'm sorry, Your Honor, but I just am not fully prepared to address those issues right now. And maybe Mr. Zander can
talk to that -- a little bit about that when he speaks to you, but we would object to adding those figures into his calculation for
restitution that would increase his guideline.

(Id. at 37-39.)

When Zander spoke he did not dispute that he received unemployment benefits, but stated, “The reimbursement for the loss on
the unemployment benefits, the Tribe has a choice to contest that. They have a choice to go in front of an *19  Administrative
Law Judge and say: This was a discharge due to misconduct, and unemployment benefits are not -- should not be allowed.” (Id.
at 50.)

The court ordered $202,543.92 in restitution, payable to the Paiute Indian Tribe. (11/20/13 Tr. at 58; Vol. I, Judgment, Doc.
205 at 6.) The court explained:

I believe there is sufficient substantiation of the material in the financial impact statement worksheet submitted by the Piute
[sic] Tribe to show that the grant money and other money delivered to Mr. Zander totals $176,698; that the Tribe incurred
attorney's fees as itemized in that statement for services related to the improper activities of Mr. Zander in the amount of $13,910;
that unemployment benefits paid through Utah Department of Work Force Services for California unemployment claims total
$8,339.98; that lost wages and employees' time attributable to work and travel on the Zander case total $3,595.94.

(11/20/13 Tr. at 58.)

The court asked the government if it objected to the court finding that amount of restitution and the government stated it had
no objection. (Id. at 59.) The court noted Zander's objection and stated it was preserved. (Id.)

As a result of the additional losses, Zander's guideline calculation increased one level, from level 24 to level 25, and his new
sentencing range was 57 to 71 months. (Id. at 58, 64-65.) The court sentenced Zander to 68 months of imprisonment. (Id. at 65.)

Summary of the Argument
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I. The evidence supported Zander's convictions for mail fraud on Counts 1 and 2. Zander caused the use of the mails by setting
in motion a scheme to defraud *20  the Tribe by securing grant money from the BIA that he would divert to his own use. The
success of Zander's plan was dependent on the BIA approving the grants, which resulted in the BIA mailing award packages
to the Tribe. Given Zander's experience with the grant process, it was reasonably foreseeable that the mails would be used to
further his fraud. While Zander did not control whether the Tribe approved the resolution to pursue the grants or whether the
BIA awarded the grants, none of these events would have occurred but for the scheme Zander initiated. In addition, mailings can
support a mail fraud conviction even when they are routine and innocent in of themselves, so long as they are an essential step
in the perpetration of the scheme. Here, the mailings were an instrumental part of the scheme and would have never occurred
if Zander had not set the grant applications in motion.

II. The evidence was also sufficient to support Zander's convictions for wire fraud on Counts 3 and 4. Zander caused the use
of the wires in furtherance of his scheme because he knew or should have reasonably foreseen that the use of the wires would
follow in the ordinary course of business. Like the mailings of the award packets, the faxed requests for reimbursement under
the IRMP grant and the wiring of the IRMP funds would not have occurred but for Zander's scheme to divert grant money to
his own purposes. Given Zander's familiarity with the grant process, a jury could reasonably infer that he knew or should have
reasonably foreseen that wire transmissions would follow once he set his scheme in motion.

*21  III. Zander's only challenge to his money laundering conviction is the claim that there was insufficient evidence to prove
that he committed the underlying mail or wire fraud. Because the evidence was sufficient to support Zander's mail and wire
fraud convictions, the money laundering conviction should similarly be upheld.

IV. Although Zander has not properly preserved his arguments that the loss amount under USSG § 2B1.1 should not have
included the Tribe's attorneys' fees, unemployment benefits paid to the Utah Department of Workforce Services, and lost wages
and employees' time and travel, the United States is exercising its right to waive its waiver argument with respect to the loss
amount and recommends that the matter be remanded for resentencing under the proper offense level.

V. Zander waived his arguments that the Tribe's attorneys' fees, unemployment benefits paid to the Utah Department of
Workforce Services, and lost wages and employees' time and travel should not have been included in the amount of restitution
awarded pursuant to the Mandatory Victim Restitution Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3663A. Zander makes arguments on appeal that he
did not make below and he fails to argue plain error on appeal. As a result, his arguments are waived and the district court's
restitution order should be affirmed.

Argument

I. The Evidence at Trial Supported Zander's Mail Fraud Convictions Where the Mailing of the BIA Grant Awards
*22  Were Essential to and Would Not Have Occurred But For Zander's Scheme to Defraud.

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews “a sufficiency of the evidence challenge de novo, ‘viewing the evidence and the reasonable inferences to
be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the government.’ ” United States v. Hale, 762 F.3d 1214, 1222 (10th Cir.
2014) (quoting United States v. Grassie, 237 F.3d 1199, 1207 (10th Cir. 2001)). This Court “will reverse a conviction ‘only
if no rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.’ ” United States v.
Willis, 476 F.3d 1121, 1124 (10th Cir. 2007) (quoting United States v. Gurule, 461 F.3d 1238, 1243 (10th Cir. 2006)).
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B. Discussion

When viewed in the light most favorable to the jury's verdict, the evidence at trial fully supported Zander's mail fraud convictions
on Counts 1 and 2. “The elements of federal mail fraud as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1341 are (1) a scheme or artifice to defraud or
obtain property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, (2) an intent to defraud, and (3) use of
the mails to execute the scheme.” United States v. Welch, 327 F.3d 1081, 1104 (10th Cir. 2003). On appeal, Zander challenges
the sufficiency of the evidence on the third element.

Zander offers two different theories to support his challenge to the third element of mail fraud. First, Zander claims that he did
not cause the use of the mails, *23  either directly or indirectly, because the Tribe had sole authority to put the grant process
in motion and the BIA had sole authority to approve the grant. Second, he claims that he cannot be convicted for mail fraud
because the mailings themselves were not fraudulent and were required by law. Under the facts of this case, neither argument
is supported by the governing law.

1. Zander Caused the Use of the Mails by Initiating a Scheme in Which Use of the Mails Was Reasonably Foreseeable.

There is no dispute that Zander did not personally mail the two letters that formed the basis for the mail fraud charges. Instead,
the mailings occurred when the BIA approved the proposed grants Zander prepared and sent a grant award package to the
Tribe by certified mail. (Exs. 1-4, 1-6, 24-7 at 1; Tr. at 622, 832.) To commit mail fraud, however, a defendant does not
need to personally mail the items. See United States v. Weiss, 630 F.3d 1263, 1269 (10th Cir. 2010) (holding that “there is no
requirement that the perpetrator personally effect the mailing”). Instead, the government need only prove that the defendant
acted “with knowledge that the use of the mails will follow in the ordinary course of business, or where such use can reasonably
be foreseen, even though not actually intended.” Pereira v. United States, 347 U.S. 1, 8-9 (1954). In other words, to prove use
of the mails to execute the scheme, the government must prove that the defendant “ ‘set forces in motion which . . . would
involve mail uses.’ ” *24  United States v. Ruiz, 589 F.3d 1310, 1314 (10th Cir. 2009) (quoting United States v. Worley, 751
F.2d 348, 350 (10th Cir. 1984)).

In this case, Zander's fraud set forces in motion that he could reasonably foresee would involve the use of the mails. Zander, as
the Tribe's Economic Development Director, concocted the plan to seek grants from the BIA to pay for the development IRMPs.
Zander personally prepared the grant applications, in which he proposed that the grant proceeds would be used to hire outside
companies to create the IRMPs. Obtaining the grants was essential to Zander's fraudulent scheme to submit false invoices to
the Tribe for work purportedly performed on the IRMPs by fictitious companies. Because the Tribe was located in Utah and
the BIA office responsible for awarding the grants was in Arizona, it was reasonably foreseeable that the mails would be used
to communicate to the Tribe that the grant had been approved.

In fact, the evidence at trial showed that Zander knew precisely how the grant process would work. As the district court noted,
“[t]he evidence showed that Zander was involved in the grant process five times over a period of approximately two years.” (Vol.
I, Memorandum Decision and Order, Doc. 183 at 4.) The mailings charged in Counts 1 and 2 related to the fourth and fifth grants
Zander had fraudulently secured from the BIA on behalf of the Tribe and Zander was copied on both mailings. Significantly,
Zander had previously secured three other grants *25  through the very same process. Given his familiarity with the process,
Zander could reasonably foresee that his fourth and fifth grant proposals would result in the use of mails. Because “[t]he only
causation required by the mail fraud statute is whether the defendant could reasonably foresee the occurrence of mailings,”
Worley, 751 F.2d at 350, the evidence at trial proved that Zander caused the charged mailings.

Zander argues that the chain of causation between his actions and the independent actions of others that resulted in the mailings
“is simply too long and too attenuated to support his conviction.” (Aplt. Br. at 21.) Specifically, he argues that he had no control
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over whether the Tribe would pass the resolution necessary to submit the grant proposals to the BIA nor did he have any control
over whether the grant would be approved by the BIA. (Id. at 20-21.)

This Court rejected a similar argument in Ruiz, 589 F.3d 1310. Ruiz was a state official who threatened companies with excessive
fines for licensing violations unless the companies agreed to make designated charitable contributions that would personally
benefit him. The defendant's mail fraud convictions were based on the “companies' subsequent uses of the mail to deliver their
contribution checks.” Id. at 1314. The defendant claimed that the evidence was insufficient to prove use of the mails to execute
the scheme because he had no “meaningful control” over the companies' choice to deliver their contributions to the charities
by mail. Id.

*26  The Court rejected the defendant's argument as “plac[ing] a much higher burden on the government to prove causation
than our case law has previously imposed.” Id. The Court held that because the defendant set forces in motion by asking for
donations that could reasonably be foreseen to result in the use of the mail in furtherance of his fraudulent scheme, the evidence
presented was sufficient for proving causation of mail use for the mail fraud charges. Id.

Similarly, the evidence at trial sufficiently proved that Zander set forces in motion through the drafting of grant proposals that
could be reasonably foreseen to result in the use of the mails. While he may not have had direct control over whether the Tribe
would resolve to pursue the grants or whether the BIA would approve them, neither action would have occurred but for Zander's
scheme. Just as the defendant in Ruiz did not control how the companies would deliver their charitable contributions, Zander
did not control how the BIA communicated its approval of the grants to the Tribe. Nonetheless, Zander initiated the process
that caused the BIA to mail letters related to the grants and these mailings furthered Zander's fraudulent scheme. As in Ruiz,
this is all that is required to prove causation for purposes of mail fraud.

2. Truthful Mailings Required by Law Can Violate the Mail Fraud Statute if Incident to the Fraud.

Zander argues that the mailings of the grant awards to the Tribe cannot form the basis of his mail fraud convictions because
the award package itself contained no *27  false or misleading statements and was required by law to be mailed to the Tribe
upon approval of the grant. (Aplt. Br. at 21-22.) Zander's argument cites Parr v. United States, 363 U.S. 370 (1960), and United
States v. Lake, 472 F.3d 1247 (10th Cir. 2007), for the proposition that “mailings of documents which are required by law
to be mailed, and which are not themselves false or fraudulent, cannot be regarded as mailed for the purpose of executing a
fraudulent scheme.” Lake, 472 F.3d at 1256.

There are several problems with Zander's argument. First, Zander has failed to cite to any law containing a requirement that the
grants be mailed. Although he notes the testimony of Carolyn Richards, who stated at trial that Public Law 93638 requires the
use of certified mail, he cites to no actual legal or regulatory provision that supports her testimony. (Aplt. Br. at 22.) Zander
suggests that the law to which Richards referred is the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act., 25 U.S.C.
§ 450f. (Id.) However, he cites to no section of that law containing such a requirement. (Aplt. Br. at 22.) He also does not
provide a citation to any portion of the American Indian Agricultural Resources Management Act, 25 U.S.C. § 3701 et seq.,
containing such a requirement. (Id. at 21.) In addition, Zander's brief notes that his IRMP proposal contains a reference to 26
CFR § 166 (Aplt. Br. at 21), but no such CFR section appears to exist, and Title 26 covers Internal Revenue matters. See, e.g., 26
CFR § 1.0-1. By contrast, 25 CFR § 166.4 (2007), governing BIA *28  grazing permits, explains that “[w]ritten notice means
a written letter mailed by way of United States mail, certified return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or hand-delivered.”
Zander's failure to provide a legal citation for the proposition that the grants were required to be mailed, as opposed to hand-
delivered, or sent by any other method, eviscerates his argument. (See Supp. Vol. I, Defendant's Reply to Governments [sic]
Response to Rule 29 Motion, Doc. 180 at 4 (arguing under Lake that there is no crime if there is “an imperative duty from
statute or regulatory rule to mail something”).)
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Secondly, the facts in Zander's case are readily distinguishable from those in Parr and Lake. In Parr and Lake, the transmission
that formed the basis for the mail or wire fraud counts would have occurred regardless of the scheme to defraud. In Parr, the
scheme to defraud involved embezzling money from a school district by issuing checks to fictitious vendors. Parr, 363 U.S. at
375-76. The uses of the mails charged in the indictment were mailings of tax notices and remittances necessary to collect taxes
to fund the district. Id. at 389. Because the district was legally required to assess those taxes and there was no evidence that
the amounts assessed were “padded” to further the scheme, the mailings “were not shown to have been unlawful step(s) in a
plot, part(s) of the execution of the fraud, incident to an essential part of the scheme, or to have been made for the purpose of
executing such scheme, within the meaning of § 1341.” Id. at 391 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

*29  Similarly, in Lake, this Court held that the evidence was insufficient to prove wire fraud where the transmissions were
not made in furtherance of the scheme. The defendants in Lake ran a large public utility company and were charged with “a far-
reaching scheme to milk the company for all they could through a pattern of fraud and deceit.” Lake, 472 F.3d at 1249. “Despite
the scope of the alleged fraudulent scheme, all the counts of the indictment depended on proving the efforts of the defendants
to conceal from the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) their personal use of corporate aircraft.” Id.
at 1249-50. Specifically, the wire fraud counts rested on the filing of various SEC reports in which the personal use was not
reported. Id. at 1255. Yet the government “did not show at trial that disclosure [of the defendants' personal use of corporate
aircraft] was required.” Id. at 1258. Instead, “the trial evidence showed, even in the absence of a fraudulent scheme the seven
reports would have been filed and the contents would have been the same.” Id. at 1255. Under these facts, “one cannot say
that the wire transmissions were ‘for the purpose of executing [the] scheme.’ ” Id. “The reports were filed because they had
to be, not because of any unlawful scheme.” Id.

Unlike the tax documents in Parr or the SEC reports in Lake, both of which would have been transmitted in the absence of any
scheme to defraud, the award packet would not have been mailed by the BIA but for Zander's scheme. The evidence showed that
Zander suggested that the Tribe seek grants from the BIA to *30  fund preparation of IRMPs and personally drafted the grant
proposals. Were it not for the scheme to defraud that Zander put in motion, the mailing of the award packet to the Tribe would
have never occurred. As the district court found, “Federal law required the mailings . . . only because the BIA received the
grant applications -- grant applications that were prepared and set in motion as an instrumental part of Zander's scheme.” (Vol.
I, Memorandum Decision and Order, Doc. 183 at 7.)

This case is more analogous to Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 705 (1989), in which a used car wholesaler rolled back
the odometers on cars and sold them to unwitting retail dealers at inflated prices based on the low-mileage reading. Id. at 707.
Before they could resell the vehicles, the dealers had to submit a title-application form to the state to obtain the title that they
would then transfer to the customer. Id. The submission of the title-application forms was the use of the mails alleged in each
of the mail fraud counts against Schmuck. Id.

Relying on Parr and other cases, Schmuck argued, in part, that the mailing element of the offense “cannot be satisfied by a
mailing, such as those at issue here, that is routine and innocent in and of itself.” Id. at 711. The Court explained that, “[t]o the
extent that Schmuck would draw from [our] previous cases a general rule that routine mailings that are innocent in themselves
cannot supply the mailing element of the mail fraud offense, he misapprehends this Court's precedents.” Id. at 714-15. The
Court noted that Parr itself “specifically acknowledged that ‘innocent’  *31  mailings -- ones that contain no false information
-- may supply the mailing element” and that, in other cases, “the Court has found the elements of mail fraud to be satisfied
where the mailings have been routine.” Id. at 715.

The Court concluded that “a rational jury could have found that the title-registration mailings were part of the execution of the
fraudulent scheme, a scheme which did not reach fruition until the retail dealers resold the cars and effected transfers of title.”
Id. at 712. The Court noted that Schmuck's scheme “depended on the successful passage of title among the various parties.” Id.
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“Thus, although the registration-form mailings may not have contributed directly to the duping of either the retail dealers or the
customers, they were necessary to the passage of title, which in turn was essential to the perpetuation of Schmuck's scheme.” Id.

Similarly, the mailing of the award packets from the BIA to the Tribe was essential to the perpetration of Zander's scheme.
“The relevant inquiry is whether the mailing was ‘part of the execution of the scheme as conceived by the perpetrator at the
time.’ ” Weiss, 630 F.3d at 1269 (quoting Schmuck, 489 U.S. at 715)). In this case, Zander's scheme depended on the Tribe
receiving BIA grants to fund the preparation of the IRMPs. If the BIA had not mailed the grant award package to the Tribe
indicating that it would reimburse the Tribe for expenses associated with the creation of the IRMPs, the Tribe would not have
authorized payment to Zander's *32  fictitious vendors. The receipt of the grant award was “an essential part of the scheme or
a step in the plot.” United States v. Cardall, 885 F.2d 656, 680 (10th Cir. 1989). Therefore, the evidence supported the jury's
verdict on the mail fraud counts

II. The Evidence at Trial Supported Zander's Wire Fraud Convictions Because His Prior Experience with the BIA
Grant Process Made it Reasonably Foreseeable that the Wires Would Be Used to Further his Fraudulent Scheme.

A. Standard of Review

See Section I.A., above.

B. Discussion

When viewed in the light most favorable to the jury's verdict, the evidence at trial fully supported Zander's wire fraud convictions
on Counts 3 and 4. The elements of wire fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1343 are nearly identical to the elements of mail fraud
under 18 U.S.C. § 1341. A conviction for wire fraud “requires ‘(1) a scheme or artifice to defraud or obtain property by means
of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, (2) an intent to defraud, and (3) use of interstate wire or radio
communications to execute the scheme.’ ” United States v. Ransom, 642 F.3d 1285, 1289 (10th Cir. 2011) (quoting United
States v. Gallant, 537 F.3d 1202, 1228 (10th Cir. 2008)). Because the elements of the two statutes “are virtually identical, this
court has held ‘[i]nterpretations of § 1341 are authoritative in interpreting parallel language in § 1343.’ ” Weiss, 630 F.3d at
1263, n.5 (quoting Lake, 472 F.3d at 1255).

*33  As with mail fraud, the defendant need not personally use the wires to be guilty of wire fraud, so long as the defendant
“causes” the wire transmission. 18 U.S.C. § 1343. In order to cause another person to use a wire communication, “a defendant
need not specifically intend the use of this or that wire.” United States v. Wittig, 575 F.3d 1085, 1099 (10th Cir. 2009). It is
sufficient if he “ ‘does an act with knowledge that the use of the [wires] will follow in the ordinary course of business, or
where such use can reasonably be foreseen, even though not actually intended.’ ” Id. (quoting Pereira v. United States, 347
U.S. 1, 8-9 (1954)).

Zander argues that the government failed to prove that he caused the use of the wires as required under the third element of the
offense. (Aplt. Br. at 24-25.) The use of the wires that formed the basis for Counts 3 and 4 were a fax from the BIA office in
St. George, Utah, to the BIA processing center in Reston, Virginia, requesting reimbursement for grant expenditures and the
subsequent wiring of money from the United States Treasury in Kansas City, Missouri, to the Tribe's bank account in Utah. Like
the mailings of the award packets, the faxed requests for reimbursement under the IRMP grant and the wiring of the IRMP funds
would not have occurred but for Zander's scheme to secure the grants so he could divert the money to his own personal use.

While Zander argues that the Tribe would have still requested some “draw down” of funds and that a wire transfer for a lesser
amount would have occurred *34  without the request for reimbursement under the IRMP grants (Aplt. Br. at 25), he cites
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no authority for the proposition that a wire transmission that simultaneously furthers both legitimate and fraudulent purposes
cannot form the basis for wire fraud. Moreover, this is not a situation like Parr or Lake, where mailings and wire transmissions
with the same content would have occurred regardless of the defendant's fraudulent scheme. Even if some fax or some wire
transfer would have been sent regardless of Zander's scheme, the content of those transmissions would have been fundamentally
different -- they would not have included the funds associated with the IRMP grants or the requests for those funds. Exhibit
26-1, the fax transmission underlying Count 3 contained two pages that dealt solely with requests for funds under the IRMP
grants. (Ex. 26-1 at FBIXXX-XX-XXXX (requesting $34,500 for IRMP Grant 21) & and FBIXXX-XX-XXXX (requesting
$49,500 for IRMP Grant 22); Ex. 26-2; Tr. at 734-37.) The pages requesting the funds under the IRMP grants were faxed to
Reston “based on the fact that the Paiute Indian Tribe was awarded an IRMP grant[.]” (Tr. at 738.)

The evidence at trial further established evidence that Zander had “actual knowledge that the wires would be used in the ordinary
course of business or that he reasonably should have foreseen such use.” Weiss, 630 F.3d at 1271. To establish causation, the
government need not prove that Zander “had knowledge the specific wire transmissions charged in the indictment would follow
in the ordinary course of *35  business or that those transmissions were reasonably foreseeable.” Id. at 1273. Instead, the
government need only prove that Zander “had knowledge of or could reasonably foresee that his fraudulent [scheme] would
result in the use of a wire communications facility.” Id.

The district court found that “[t]he evidence supported the jury's finding that given Zander's understanding of how the grant
application and approval process works, he knew or should have known that wire transmissions would be used to perpetrate his
fraudulent scheme.” (Vol. I, Memorandum Decision and Order, Doc. 183 at 124.) Zander had been involved in the grant process
five times throughout a period of at least two years and had personally used wires in communicating with the BIA through
faxes related to the grant process. Given his position with the Tribe and his experience with the grant process, the jury could
reasonably infer that Zander had knowledge of or could reasonably foresee that his scheme would result in the use of the wires.

In addition, Zander's own witness, Randall Hoyt, another director who submitted grant applications on behalf of the Tribe,
testified that he knew that if a grant “was accepted and awarded, money would be sent from the BIA” and other federal entities
to the Tribe and that “many of these entities, including the BIA, would be outside of the State of Utah.” (Tr. at 913-14.) Based
on this evidence, it was not unreasonable for jurors to conclude that Zander could reasonably foresee *36  that the grant process
would involve the use of the wires. Therefore, the evidence was sufficient to support the convictions on Counts 3 and 4.

III. Because the Evidence Was Sufficient to Support Zander's Mail and Wire Fraud Convictions, there is No Basis for
Setting Aside His Money Laundering Conviction.

A. Standard of Review

See Section I.A., above.

B. Discussion

The evidence at trial fully supported Zander's money laundering conviction on Count 5. To convict Zander of money laundering
under 18 U.S.C. § 1957, the government was required to prove that the defendant (1) engaged or attempted to engage, (2) in a
monetary transaction, (3) in criminally derived property, (4) knowing that the property is derived from unlawful activity, and (5)
the property is, in fact, derived from specified unlawful activity. Lake, 472 F.3d at 1260. The indictment identified the specified
unlawful activity as “Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 & 1343 [.]” (Supp. Vol. I, Superseding
Indictment, Doc. 52 at 11.) Zander's sole argument on appeal is that he “did not commit the crimes of mail and wire fraud on
which the money laundering count is predicated.” (Aplt. Br. at 28.)
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For the reasons set forth in Sections I and II above, the evidence at trial was sufficient to establish that Zander was guilty of
mail and wire fraud. Therefore, because the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's finding that Zander *37  committed

the specified unlawful activity, there is no basis on which to set aside Zander's money laundering conviction. 7

IV. Although Zander Has Not Properly Preserved His Arguments That the District Court Improperly Calculated
the Loss Amount under USSG § 2B1.1, the United States Is Exercising Its Right to Waive Its Waiver Argument and
Recommends That the Matter Be Remanded for Resentencing under the Proper Offense Level.

A. Standard of Review

Ordinarily, factual findings regarding loss calculations are reviewed for clear error and a court's loss calculation methodology
is reviewed de novo. United States v. Snow, 663 F.3d 1156, 1160 (10th Cir. 2011). However, sentencing arguments not made
before the district court are reviewed on appeal for plain error only. United States v. Crowe, 735 F.3d 1229, 1242 (10th Cir.
2013). Moreover, when a party fails *38  to argue plain error on appeal, the claim is waived. See United States v. Blechman,
657 F.3d 1052, 1063 n.12 (10th Cir. 2011) (“Blechman has neither mentioned the plain-error standard nor made any attempt
to show how he can satisfy that standard. ‘[T]he failure to argue for plain error and its application on appeal surely marks the
end of the road for an argument for reversal not first presented to the district court.’ ”) (quoting Richison v. Ernest Grp., Inc.,
634 F.3d 1123, 1131 (10th Cir. 2011)). Moreover, this Court has “held under the plain error standard that failure to assert a
factual dispute at sentencing waives the challenge [on appeal] because it prevented the probation officer from reviewing and
the district court from resolving the fact issue.” United States v. Shengyang Zhou, 717 F.3d 1139, 1154 (10th Cir. 2013) (citing
United States v. Overholt, 307 F.3d 1231, 1253 (10th Cir. 2002)).

B. Discussion

Three categories of loss figures are at issue on appeal: (1) $13,910 in attorneys' fees paid by the Tribe in connection with various
Zander-related matters; (2) $3,595.94 in lost wages and employees' time and travel related to the Zander case; and (3) $8,339.98
in unemployment benefits paid to Zander after he was terminated and for which the Tribe had to reimburse the State of Utah.
Zander concedes that the government presented evidence of a loss in the amount of $176,698, which was the amount Zander
received in grant funds as a result of his scheme. (Aplt. Br. at 31 (“the government introduced evidence that this amount was
*39  $176,694 [sic].”).) However, he argues that the attorneys' fees, wages and travel, and unemployment compensation were

not reasonably foreseeable or were specifically excluded, under the Guidelines, from the loss calculation. (Id. at 29-33.)

The court found a loss of $202,543.92, and the dividing lines for an increase in offense levels under USSG §§ 2B1.1(b)(1)
(F) and (G) are “more than $120,000” and “more than $200,000.” As a result, if one of the above categories was incorrectly
included in the loss calculation, Zander was sentenced under an incorrect offense level.

The United States does not agree with Zander's suggestion that he is entitled to de novo review of the court's loss calculation
methodology and clear error review of the court's factual findings. (See Aplt. Br. at 29-30.) Zander failed to raise in the district
court the arguments he makes on appeal and, as a result, his legal claims may be reviewed only for plain error and his factual

objections are foreclosed from appellate review. 8  Crowe, 735 F.3d at 1242; Blechman, 657 F.3d at 1063, n.12; Shengyang
Zhou, 717 F.3d at 1154.

*40  For the first time on appeal, Zander argues that the wages and attorneys' fees were improperly included in the loss
calculation because they were “costs incurred primarily to aid the government in the prosecution of the offenses for which Mr.
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Zander was charged.” (Aplt. Br. at 32.) As such, he asserts that including those figures in the loss calculation was in violation
of the Sentencing Guideline commentary. Comment 3(D)(ii) to section 2B1.1 excludes from loss “costs incurred by victims
primarily to aid the government in[] the prosecution and criminal investigation of an offense.” (Aplt. Br. at 32 (citing USSG
§ 2B1.1, comment. (n.3(D)(ii))).)

In addition, based on comment 3(A)(i) to section 2B1.1, Zander asserts that the unemployment benefits the Tribe paid were
not “reasonably foreseeable pecuniary harm that resulted from the offense” and, therefore, should not have been *41  included
in the loss calculation. (Id. at 31-33.) The commentary to section 2B1.1 defines “actual loss” as “the reasonably foreseeable
pecuniary harm that resulted from the offense.” USSG § 2B1.1, comment. (n.3(A)(i)). “ ‘[R]easonably foreseeable pecuniary
harm’ means pecuniary harm that the defendant knew or, under the circumstances, reasonably should have known, was a
potential result of the offense.” USSG § 2B1.1, comment. (n.3(A)(iv)). Zander argues that “[t]here is no evidence to support a
finding that [he] reasonably foresaw” that he would be fired, unable to get another job, would seek benefits from California, and
the Tribe would have to repay the State of Utah for those benefits. (Aplt. Br. at 32-33.) Zander did not raise this argument below.

Because Zander did not properly preserve the legal arguments he now makes, and does not argue plain error on appeal, the
government is within its rights to assert waiver. However, the United States concludes that justice would be better served by
remanding the case to the district court for Zander to be sentenced at offense level 24, the offense level that results from a loss of

more than $120,000 and less than $200,000. 9  See United States v. Calderon, 428 F.3d 928, 931 (10th Cir. 2005) *42  (stating
that, in some cases, the government might conclude that justice would be better served by allowing a criminal defendant to
appeal a wrongful sentence, even when the plea agreement included an appeal waiver).

Zander is correct that the Sentencing Guideline commentary specifically excludes from loss “costs incurred by victims primarily
to aid the government in[] the prosecution and criminal investigation of an offense.” USSG § 2B1.1, comment. (n.3(D)(ii))
(“Loss shall not include . . . [c]osts to the government of, and costs incurred by victims primarily to aid the government in,
the prosecution and criminal investigation of an offense”).) At the sentencing hearing, the figure for lost wages and employees'
time and travel was attributed to “time and travel for two trips to Salt Lake for deposition [s],” (11/20/13 Tr. at 35-36), and
the United States agrees with Zander's counsel that the reference to depositions likely relates to trial testimony (Aplt. Br. at 37,
n.6), as well as government interviews. Because the wage and travel claim alone is enough to reduce the loss calculation to less
than $200,000, the United States does not address the remaining loss categories, except to note that attorneys' fees incurred by
the Tribe in connection with the FBI's and DOJ's *43  investigation and prosecution also should not have been included in the

loss figure pursuant to the same Guideline commentary. 10

For the foregoing reasons, the matter should be remanded to the district court for resentencing at an offense level of 24 and
a guideline range of 51 to 63 months.

V. Zander Waived His Arguments That the Tribe's Attorneys' Fees, Unemployment Benefits Paid to the Utah
Department of Workforce Services, and Lost Wages and Employees' Time and Travel Should Not Have Been
Included in the Amount of Restitution Awarded Pursuant to the Mandatory Victim Restitution Act, 18 U.S.C. §
3663A.

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the legality of a restitution order de novo. Shengyang Zhou, 717 F.3d at 1152. The factual findings underlying
the order are reviewed for clear error and the amount of restitution imposed is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id. However,
when a party failed to object below, review is only for plain error and, when an appellant makes “a legal argument he failed
to raise in district court,” this Court reviews “only for ‘particularly egregious or obvious and substantial legal error, which our
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failure to consider would result in a miscarriage of justice.’ ” Id. at 1154 (citing United States v. Patty, 992 F.2d 1045, 1049
(10th Cir. 1993) (internal quotation marks omitted)).

*44  To establish plain legal error, an appellant must show an error, clear and obvious under current law, that affects substantial
rights. Id. However, a party may not raise unpreserved factual errors on appeal. Id. This Court has “held under the plain error
standard that failure to assert a factual dispute at sentencing waives the challenge because it prevented the probation officer
from reviewing and the district court from resolving the fact issue.” Id. (citing Overholt, 307 F.3d at 1253).

B. Discussion

Zander's convictions for mail and wire fraud required the court to order restitution pursuant to the Mandatory Victim Restitution
Act (“MVRA”), 18 U.S.C. § 3663A. Zander does not dispute that the MVRA applied or that the Tribe was a victim for purposes
of the Act. The MVRA “sets the outer limits on the type of damages that are compensable[.]” Shengyang Zhou, 717 F.3d at
1154. Although the MVRA does not provide incidental, consequential, or pain and suffering awards, it does entitle victims
to recover losses actually caused by the defendant's offense. Id. (citing United States v. Serawop, 505 F.3d 1112, 1124 (10th
Cir. 2007) (internal quotations omitted)). A district court has “abundant discretion” in crafting a restitution award. Serawop,
505 F.3d at 1124.

In a case involving loss of property, the order of restitution shall require the defendant to pay the value of the property. 18
U.S.C. § 3663A(b)(1). The order shall also require the defendant, “[i]n any case, [to] reimburse the victim for lost *45  income
and necessary child care, transportation, and other expenses incurred during participation in the investigation or prosecution of
the offense or attendance at proceedings related to the offense.” 18 U.S.C. § 3663A(b)(4).

Three classes of restitution payments are at issue on appeal: (1) $13,910 in attorneys' fees paid by the Tribe in connection with
various Zander-related matters; (2) $3,595.94 in lost wages and employees' time and travel related to the Zander case; and (3)
$8,339.98 in unemployment benefits paid to Zander after he was terminated and for which the Tribe had to reimburse the State
of Utah. Zander concedes that restitution in the amount of $176,698, which was the amount Zander received in grant funds as
a result of his scheme, was proper. (Aplt. Br. at 37 (“the only amount that should have been included in the restitution order
was the $176,698 the Tribe paid to the four companies Mr. Zander operated”).)

1. Attorneys' Fees

Zander argues that the attorneys' fees incurred by the Tribe in connection with the FBI and Department of Justice investigation
and prosecution were unrecoverable. (Id. at 36.) Zander recognizes that the MVRA requires a court to order a defendant “[to]
reimburse the victim for lost income and necessary child care, transportation, and other expenses incurred during participation
in the investigation or prosecution of the offense or attendance at proceedings related to the offense,” 18 U.S.C. § 3663A(b)(4).
(Aplt. Br. at 36.) However, he maintains *46  that attorneys' fees are unrecoverable because the MVRA “does not explicitly
provide for reimbursement of attorneys' fees.” (Id.)

The first problem with Zander's argument is that he did not make this legal objection below. Although he objected generally
to the restitution order, with regard to the attorneys' fees, his counsel only stated that she would need more time to respond
to the issue and that she was not prepared to address it at the sentencing hearing. (11/20/13 Tr. at 38-39.) Although the PSR
listed restitution as $176,698, Zander's counsel was aware of the Tribe's higher restitution claim prior to the hearing because
the Tribe's March 2013 financial impact statement was attached to the PSR. Nonetheless, Zander's attorney failed to ask for a
continuance to address the additional restitution amounts and did not object to the factual basis for the restitution order.
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The second problem with Zander's argument is that he fails to even mention a standard of review in the restitution section
of his brief, Aplt. Br. at 33-37, and he does not argue plain error on appeal. As a result, his argument that the MVRA does
not permit recovery of attorneys' fees as restitution is waived. See Blechman, 657 F.3d at 1063, n.12 (“Blechman has neither
mentioned the plain-error standard nor made any attempt to show how he can satisfy that standard. ‘[T]he failure to argue for
plain error and its application on appeal surely marks the end of the road for an argument for reversal not first presented to
the district court.’ ”) (quoting *47  Richison, 634 F.3d at 1131); Fed R. App. P. 28(a)(8)(B) (brief must include a statement
of the applicable standard of review).

In any event, even if this Court were to consider the claim under plain error review, Zander cannot prevail. Zander's argument
that the MVRA does not permit restitution for attorneys' fees as “other expenses incurred during participation in the investigation
or prosecution of the offense or attendance at proceedings related to the offense,” 18 U.S.C. § 3663A(b)(4), is an alleged legal
error that this Court will review only if it is plain, that is, “only if it is clear and obvious under current law.” See Shengyang
Zhou, 717 F.3d at 1154.

“An error is only plain if it is contrary to ‘well-settled law.’ ” United States v. De Vaughn, 694 F.3d 1141, 1159 (10th Cir.
2012) (quoting United States v. Edgar, 348 F.3d 867, 871 (10th Cir. 2003)). “When no authority from the Supreme Court or
this circuit would compel a determination that there was error and there is contrary authority in other circuits, the error can
rarely be plain.” Id. (quoting United States v. Baum, 555 F.3d 1129, 1136 (10th Cir. 2009)).

Zander has not cited to any Tenth Circuit or Supreme Court opinions that forbid a court from awarding attorneys' fees “incurred
during participation in the investigation or prosecution of the offense or attendance at proceedings related to the offense.”
Moreover, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals has held, pursuant to section 3664A(b)(4), that “ ‘other expenses' incurred
during the victim's *48  participation in the investigation or prosecution of the offense or attendance at proceedings related
to the offense may include attorney fees and accounting costs.” United States v. Amato, 540 F.3d 153, 159-60 (2d Cir. 2008);
accord United States v. Gordon, 393 F.3d 1044, 1057 (9th Cir. 2004) (reasoning that Cisco's investigation costs, including
attorneys' fees, were necessarily incurred by Cisco in aid of the proceedings and the costs were a direct and foreseeable result of
Gordon's actions); see also United States v. Maynard, 743 F.3d 374, 381 (2d Cir. 2014) (explaining the Second Circuit previously
concluded that “restitution for attorney's fees and accounting costs incurred by an internal investigation that uncovered fraud
-- notwithstanding that not all of the effort and expense was requested by the government” was proper, as was “restitution for
legal fees incurred when the United Nations hired outside counsel to conduct an internal investigation rather than use on-staff
lawyers”). As a result, Zander cannot establish plain error.

Furthermore, Zander's argument that this Court should remand the case to the district court to determine the amount of fees
associated with the investigation and prosecution of the offense comes too late (Aplt. Br. at 36), as he failed to object in the
district court to any specific category of attorneys' fees or to the documentation that was submitted to the court. Shengyang Zhou,
717 F.3d at 1155 (“Whether all of the expenses were incurred by GSK during the government's investigation or prosecution
of this matter is a fact question which Mr. Zhou has waived by his *49  failure to object.”). Although Zander argues it was
error for the court not to ask the Tribe for copies of the redacted legal bills, which the Tribe had offered to provide (Aplt. Br.
at 36), Zander never objected below that the bills had not been provided. Instead, Zander's attorney stated only that she would
need more time to address the fee issue and that she was “not fully prepared to address those issues right now.” (11/20/13 Tr. at
39.) Because Zander's attorney did not take issue with the documentation provided by the Tribe in its victim impact statement
in the district court, Zander's objections are waived.

Based on the foregoing, it was not plainly erroneous for the district court to include in the restitution amount the attorneys' fees
the Tribe incurred in connection with the investigation and prosecution.
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Zander further argues that the other attorneys' fees claimed by the Tribe were unrecoverable under the MVRA because
they were “collateral” or “consequential.” (Aplt. Br. at 35-36.) The fees at issue were incurred in connection with (1) the
Department of Interior's attempts to recoup the stolen funds; (2) state charges against Zander for trespassing into the Paiute Tribal
building after his termination; (3) unemployment benefits improperly paid to Zander; (4) termination; and (5) “related Zander
requirements.” (Victim Impact Statement, Financial Impact Statement Worksheet at 1 (capitalization altered from original);
Aplt. Br. at 35.)

*50  Here, again, Zander has waived his argument because he presses a claim he failed to make in the district court and fails
to argue plain error in his brief. In addition, to the extent Zander's causation arguments are factual in nature, this Court simply
will not consider them. See Shengyang Zhou, 717 F.3d at 1154 (holding that failure to assert a factual dispute at sentencing
waives the challenge on appeal).

Even if Zander's claims raise a legal question, he cannot establish plain error for many of the categories of claimed fees as he
has cited no Tenth Circuit or Supreme Court case law that would compel a determination that there was error. “Consequential
damages are damages that are not the direct and immediate result of the injury, but depend in part on factors outside the control
or expectation of the parties.” United States v. Wilfong, 551 F.3d 1182, 1187 (10th Cir. 2008) (citing Black's Law Dictionary
394 (8th ed. 2004) (defining consequential damages as “[l]osses that do not flow directly and immediately from an injurious
act but that result indirectly from that act”).) “As another court put it in the restitution context, ‘we have approved restitution
awards that included losses at least one step removed from the offense conduct itself,’ but ‘[t]he causal chain may not extend
so far, in terms of the facts or the time span, as to become unreasonable.’ ” Id. (quoting United States v. Gamma Tech Indus.,
265 F.3d 917, 928 (9th Cir. 2001)). The “main inquiry for causation in restitution cases [is] whether there was an intervening
cause and, if so, whether this intervening cause was directly related to the offense conduct.” Id. *51  (quoting United States
v. De La Fuente, 353 F.3d 766, 772 (9th Cir. 2003) (internal quotation marks omitted)). “[T]here is general agreement that a
restitution order under the MVRA cannot encompass consequential damages resulting from the defendant's conduct[.]” United
States v. Barton, 366 F.3d 1160, 1167 (10th Cir. 2004).

First, with respect to fees associated with the Department of Interior's attempts to recoup the stolen grant funds, the fees were
incurred as a direct result of Zander's fraud. Had Zander not stolen the grant funds, the Department of Interior would not have
attempted to recoup them and the Tribe would not have needed legal assistance. See Maynard, 743 F.3d at 381 (explaining
the expense of internal investigations was “necessary because the entity had interests to protect (the integrity of its ongoing
operations and reputation, at the least) as well as a duty to protect those interests when faced with evidence, indicia, or a grounded
suspicion of internal misconduct, and the investigation was a means calculated to achieve the protection of those interests.”).

The same can be said for attorneys' fees associated with Zander's termination. Had Zander not committed the crimes, the Tribe
would not have had to terminate him. The attorneys' fees associated with the termination were not so far removed, “in terms
of the facts or the time span,” as to “become unreasonable.' ” Wilfong, 551 F.3d at 1187 (quoting Gamma Tech Indus., 265
F.3d at 928).

*52  Zander makes no claim that restitution for the attorneys' fees incurred in connection with his subpoena requests was

improper. (See Aplt. Br. at 35-36.) Therefore, he has waived any claim with respect to those fees. 11

Based on the foregoing, because Zander failed to specifically object below and failed to argue plain error on review, his claims
are waived and the restitution award for attorneys' fees should be affirmed.

2. Lost Wages and Employees' Time and Travel
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Zander argues that including reimbursement for “lost wages and employees' time and travel related to the Zander case” was
improper because “there was no evidence that the Tribe lost income as a result of the tribal employees' participation in the
trial” and “[a]s defense counsel noted below, these employees would have been paid the same wage regardless of whether they
attended the court proceedings.” (Aplt. Br. at 37) (citing 11/20/13 Tr. at 39). The Tribe's attorney, who prepared the victim
impact statement, described the requested amount as being for “lost wages and employees' time and travel related to the Zander
case.” (Victim Impact Statement, Financial Impact Statement Worksheet at 1 (capitalization altered from original); 11/20/13
Tr. at 33.) Rollo stated at sentencing that the requested amount was based on her “time and travel for two trips to Salt Lake for
deposition [sic], *53  Lora's. We had another staff member that came up, so that was our time.” (11/20/13 Tr. at 35-36.) The
wage figure was derived by taking monthly wages and dividing them by the hours actually spent. (Id. at 36.)

Here, again, Zander has a waiver problem. Zander did not argue below that there was no evidence that the Tribe lost any income.
This is a factual objection and factual errors not raised below may not even be reviewed for plain error. Shengyang Zhou, 717
F.3d at 1154.

The objection that Zander's counsel did make below, that the employees would have been paid whether they attended court or
not, is off the mark. The MVRA specifically permits a court to order restitution for “transportation[] and other expenses incurred
during participation in the investigation or prosecution of the offense or attendance at proceedings related to the offense.” 18
U.S.C. § 3663A(b)(4). Because the Tribe's employees were taken away from their normal duties, the Tribe did not obtain the
benefit of their services while they were participating in the investigation and attending the proceedings. See Wilfong, 551 F.3d
at 1186-87 (disagreeing with defendant's argument that wages constituted consequential or incidental damages and awarding
restitution for lost employee work time, valued at the employees' wages, after building was evacuated following bomb threat).
As a result, the court did not err when it ordered Zander to reimburse the Tribe for their employees' wages in the restitution order.
See Moore v. United *54  States, 178 F.3d 994, 1001 (8th Cir. 1999) (awarding restitution to victim-customer present during
bank robbery “for lost wages incurred as the result of time spent giving statements, identifying the suspects, and preparing for
and testifying at trial”).

In addition, it is reasonable for Zander to be required to reimburse the Tribe for the wages of the Tribe's employees who, as
a result of his fraud, were taken away from their normal work. Courts have concluded that attorneys' fees incurred by victims
“during participation in the investigation or prosecution of the offense or attendance at proceedings related to the offense,” 18
U.S.C. § 3663A(b)(4), can be recovered under the statute. Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude that the costs associated with
having the victim's own employees participate in the investigation and prosecution and attend proceedings are also recoverable.
“The determination of an appropriate restitution amount is by nature an inexact science.” United States v. Parker, 553 F.3d
1309, 1323 (10th Cir. 2009) (quoting United States v. Teehee, 893 F.2d 271, 274 (10th Cir. 1990)). Thus, the MVRA directs
sentencing courts to “reach an expeditious, reasonable, determination of appropriate restitution by resolving uncertainties with

a view toward achieving fairness to the victim.” Parker, 553 F.3d at 1323 (quoting id.). Here, the district court did just that. 12

*55  3. Unemployment Benefits

Zander argues that “the money the Tribe paid to compensate the State of Utah for unemployment benefits paid to Mr. Zander
are consequential damages and not properly included in a restitution award.” (Aplt. Br. at 35.) He argues that” [t]he payment
of these benefits did not flow directly from the commission of the offenses for which Mr. Zander was convicted, but rather
from a series of events far removed from the offense conduct.” (Id.) Zander, again, has waived his claim by failing to raise it
below and failing to argue plain error on appeal.

The district court exercised its abundant discretion in crafting a restitution award. For the foregoing reasons, the district court's
restitution order should be affirmed.
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*56  Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm Zander's convictions, affirm the restitution award, and remand the case
for resentencing.

Footnotes
1 Zander does not challenge his tax convictions on appeal.

2 The trial transcripts are sequentially paginated and all citations to “Tr.” are to the trial transcript.

3 The total amount wired to the Tribe -- $648,933 -- included reimbursement for the IRMP grant expenditures as well as separate

projects processed as part of the same draw down request. (Tr. at 310.)

4 The record does not reveal to whom the prosecutor was referring.

5 Zander was convicted of trespassing after he entered the Paiute Tribal Building through an unlocked window in 2009, following his

termination. (PSR at 13, ¶ 47; 11/20/13 Tr. at 30.)

6 The Tribe also requested $10,000 relating to Zander's salary increase as general counsel, but the court found that that figure was

not supported and declined to award restitution in that amount. (Victim Impact Statement, Financial Impact Statement Worksheet

at 1; 11/20/13 Tr. at 34-35, 58.)

7 Even if there was insufficient evidence of the mailings and wirings in Counts 1 through 4 of the superseding indictment, Zander's

conviction on Count 5 still stands. The superseding indictment did not allege that Count 5 was linked specifically to property derived

from Counts 1 through 4. Instead, it alleged that the laundered money was derived from mail and wire fraud. (Supp. Vol. I, Superseding

Indictment, Doc. 52 at 11.) The jury had evidence about other uses of the wires that did not form the basis for specific counts in the

indictment. For example, exhibits 2-3 through 2-8 were faxes of IRMP Quarterly Performance Reports that Zander sent to the BIA

in Colorado from 2005 to 2007. The faxes contained misrepresentations, such as Zander's claim that a consultant and a facilitator

were actively involved in the projects and his assertion that he traveled out of town, including to Las Vegas, Nevada, to meet with

consultants and facilitators. Cf. United States v. Irvin, 682 F.3d 1254, 1271 (10th Cir. 2012) (“Because the government identified the

‘specified unlawful activity’ on which Count 5 rested as the crime charged in Count 3, the evidence must also be sufficient to support

a rational jury's conclusion the laundered money constituted the proceeds of that substantive act of bank fraud.”).

8 Zander acknowledges his attorney made no specific argument with respect to attorneys' fees and merely stated that she would need

more time to respond. (Aplt. Br. at 30.) Zander's attorney only entered a “general objection ‘to adding those figures into his calculation

for restitution that would increase his guidelines.’ ” (Id. at 30-31 (citing 11/20/13 Tr. at 39).)

Regarding unemployment benefits, Zander concedes that his attorney “told the court she did not understand the claim[.]” (Id. at 30.)

While acknowledging that this “argument is less than clear,” Zander's appellate counsel posits that the statement “is fairly understood

as asserting a lack of connection between the offenses of conviction and amount claimed.” (Id. (citing 11/20/13 Tr. at 39).)

Zander's interpretation is unsupported by the record. Zander's counsel stated, in total, with regard to the unemployment benefits,

“And the money for the unemployment that Mr. Zander drew for the $8,339, I guess I don't understand. You know, and I guess --

you know, just off of the cuff, I don't have a lot of experience in addressing this right now, so I would need more time to respond for

that and for the attorney's fees.” (11/20/13 Tr. at 39.) It is not reasonable to construe the statements that she did not understand and

did not have experience to mean that the Sentencing Guideline's commentary indicating that losses should be reasonably foreseeable

precluded the court from including the unemployment benefits in the loss calculation.

Regarding lost wages, Zander's counsel stated only that the employees would have been paid no matter what they were doing. (Id.

at 38-39.)

9 The PSR set forth a loss of $176,698.00 and the government advocated for that amount at sentencing. Arguably, Zander's counsel was

not on notice prior to the hearing that the court might consider a higher loss figure. By contrast, the Tribe's victim impact statement

requested restitution in an amount higher than the loss figure. Because the victim impact statement was attached to the PSR, Zander's

counsel was on notice that the restitution calculation was in dispute. These differences are one of the reasons the United States waives

its right to argue waiver with regard to the loss calculation, but preserves its right, as set forth below, to argue waiver with regard

to restitution.
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10 Arguably, the costs of the Tribe's internal investigation could have been included in the loss calculation, but no information was

presented regarding the costs associated with Rollo's investigation prior to the FBI becoming involved. See United States v. Piggie,

303 F.3d 923, 927-28 (8th Cir. 2002) (holding district court properly included in loss calculation the cost of victims' internal

investigations).

11 The United States relies on its waiver argument in connection with the attorneys' fees associated with Zander's state prosecution for

trespass, the dispute over unemployment compensation, and “related Zander requirements.”

12 Zander conceded in the loss calculation section of his brief that “the amounts the Tribe claimed for employee wages and attorneys'

fees were costs incurred primarily to aid the government in the prosecution of the offenses for which Mr. Zander was charged.” (Aplt.

Br. at 32.) As a result, because the MVRA specifically permits a court to order restitution for “transportation[] and other expenses

incurred during participation in the investigation or prosecution of the offense or attendance at proceedings related to the offense,”

18 U.S.C. § 3663A(b)(4), wages and attorneys' fees were properly included in the restitution award.
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